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1. Name of Property

historic name  Marguette School

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number 1905 College Avenue not for publication
city or town  South Bend vicinity

state Indiana code IN  county St Joseph code 141 zipcode 46628

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated autherity under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

| hereby certify that this _x_ nomination ____ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property _ x__ meets does not meet the National Register Criteria. 1 recommend that this property
be considered significant at the following levei(s) of significance:

___national ___ statewide x_local

Signature of certifying official/Titie Date

Indiana DNR-Division of Histeric Preservation and Archaeclogy
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property __ meets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria.

Signature of commenting official Date

Title State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

4. National Park Service Certification

} hereby certify that this property is:

___entered in the National Register ___determined eligible for the National Register
___determined not eligible for the National Register ' ____removed fram the National Register

___ other (explain:}

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
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St. Joseph County, IN

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
{Check as many boxes as apply.} (Check only one box.}
private x_| building(s)
X_1 public - Local | | district
public - State site
public - Federal structure
object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

indiana’s Public Common and High Schools

Number of Resources within Property
{Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Confributing  Nonconfributing

1 0 buildings
0 0 district

1 0 site

0 0 structure
1 0 object

3 0 Total

Number of coniributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
{Enter categories from instructions.)

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

EDUCATION: school VACANT
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials

(Enter categories from instructions.)

MODERN MOVEMENT: Art Deco

(Enter categories from instructions.)

foundation:. STONE: Limestone

walls: Brick

roof: SYTHETICS: Rubber

other:
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Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance of the property. Explain contributing and noncontributing resources
if necessary. Begin with a summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as
its location, setting, size, and significant features.)

Summary Paragraph

The Marquette School at 1905 College Avenue in South Bend, Indiana, is representative of a neighborhood school
constructed in 1936-1937 with aid from the Federal government through the New Deal projects of President Franklin D.
Roosevelt. The building occupies the southern third of a narrow city block; a new school building that has replaced
Marquette is located in the northern third of the block and a parking lot is between the two school buildings. While the
building has a College Avenue address, the original building's fagade faces Hamilton Street (on the south) and has a nicely
landscaped front lawn. Marquette is two stories tall with walts constructed out of brick with stone trim; it has an auditorium,
gymnasium and classrooms. The building is constructed in the Art Deco style. The building was designed by Austin and
Shambleau, a local South Bend architectural firm, and it was constructed by a local contractor, Thomas L. Hickey.

Narrative Description

Marquette School Site

The Marquette School has a presence in its surrounding neighborhood on a lot clearly set aside for a public building by its
deep front lawn and landscaping. Concrete sidewalks line the streets on the east, west, and south sides of the site.
Sidewalks lead from the perimeter streets’ sidewalks to the building's entrances and a sidewalk shaped as a large half-
circle connects the two front entrances in the front lawn. Inside the half-circle is a historic metal flagpole (c. 1937) with a
cast metal base (seen at right in photo 0003). The base is bell-shaped with fluting and a Greek key pattern above the
fiuted portion of the bell. Mature shade trees, some of which appear to date to the period of construction, are located in
the front lawn. Less mature trees line College Street on the east side of the building. Mature shrubbery is located at the
corners and on each side of entrances of the building. The area behind the building is paved. The site and flagpole are
considered contributing rescurces of the Marquette School site.

Marguette School, exterior Photographs 0001-0008

General

The Marquette School's primary facades are its front (Hamilton Street or south fagade) and College Avenue (east) fagade.
The original 1936 building fronts Hamilton Street and is constructed in a U-shape. The building evolved into an L-shaped
plan when a small addition was constructed in 1948 and a larger addition was constructed in 1953 off the northeast corner
of the original building on College Avenue. The additions are constructed in the same style and with the same details as
the original building. The building has a smooth cut limestone foundation. Its walls are constructed with a blend of red and
brown brick laid in an English bond with stone banding. A stone sill course is located on the first level;, two stone belt
courses form the top of the second level and base of the parapet wall. Limestone relief sculptures are located above the
enfrances of the building. The building has wood windows, mostly in a 6/9 configuration. The windows are frequently
grouped together with limestone trim. Stone coping caps the tops of the walls. The building’s roof is fiat and is covered
with a layer of asphalt with gravel embedded in the top of the asphalt.

Front (Hamilton Sireet) Facade (photos 0001-0003)

The front facade of the building (south/Hamilton Street) is symmetrically arranged into five bays. The center bay is
classroom and administrative office space that is divided into three sections by wide brick pilasters. Between the pilasters
is a group of six 6/9 windows on each fevel. MARQUETTE SCHOOL is spelled out in cast metal letters across the top of
this center section of the front fagade. Framing the outside edges of the center section the next bays are one-story
vestibules. The vestibules each have four granite steps that lead to an entrance. A pair of bronze-colored aluminum and
glass doors is located in each entrance; these are modern replacements. Wide brick pilasters frame a wide stone
surround around each entrance. Reliefs of seated figures are located in squares carved into each upper corner of the
stone surrounds. Four stone bands are located near the top of the vestibule walls. One is near the height of the bottom of
the stone surround, another goes across the top of the stone surround, the third forms a cap to the brick pilasters, and the
fourth is halfway between the third and the stone cap on top of the parapet. Centered at the top of the front wall of the
vestibule is a triangular brick wall, or pediment. It has a stone belt course at its base. Three rows of brick are laid
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vertically between the top of the triangular wall and the top of the belt course at the fop of the pilasters. These bricks are
angled so that their corners form ribs on the wall. The vestibule walls facing toward the center of the building (west wall of
the east vestibule and east wall of the west vestibule) have an art glass window with a stone surround toward their inside
corner with the main building {interior photo 0011}. The art glass window is composed of frosted glass panes divided by
metal mullions in triangular and octagonal patterns. The windows have wood sashes. Centered above the vestibule on
the main wall of the front facade are paired 6/9 windows. Narrow brick pilasters form the outside edges of these pairs of
windows, to the outside of the center section of the front fagade.

The outside comer bays of the front fagade at one time resembled two-story towers. The tops of these corner bays were
once taller and resembled the entry vestibules’ tops; the brick and stone trim was removed to the height of the adjcining
parapet walls. Itis unclear when or why the tops of corner bays were removed; however it appears it may have been part
of a roof renovation project since the coping and flashing appear consistent around the entire parapet of the building.
Wide brick pilasters form the outside edge of their front walls. The cutside corners of the pilasters are cut away by the
absence of a vertical row of brick on the first level. The cut away wall is capped by stone trim on the first floor. The cut
away wall on the second floor and parapet is composed of two rows of bricks. The bricks are angled so that their corners
form ribs on the building. The inside edges of the pilasters step inward toward a recessed narrow center bay. The first
level of the bay has three narrow 4/6 windows; the windows are separated by narrow sections of brick and the only stone
trim around these windows are their stone silis. The second level has one large window centered in the bay; it is divided
into 30 panes of giass by wocd mullions. The window has stone trim that frames it and a talt stone block above it. The
stone block has a stone relief carved into the shape of an octagon with additional carvings inside the octagon that include
a crown mofif,

College Avenue (East) Fagade {photos 0006-0008)

The east facade of the building is composed of three sections: the original 1936 building at its south end, a narrow 1948
addition, and the 1953 addition at its north end. The original portion of the building has the east wall of the corner bay from
the front facade at its south end (photo 0006). The east fagade of the comer bay matches the south facade, except that a
marguis motif is carved into the octagonal relief carving above the second level window. North of the comner bay wall is a
grouping of four 6/2 windows on the first and second levels. A wide brick pilaster is north of these windows and to its north
side is a grouping of six 6/9 windows on the first and second levels. An entrance with four granite steps is located north of
the groupings of six windows (phofo 0007). The entrance has a pair of bronze-colored aluminum and glass doors that are
modern replacements. Brick pilasters are located on each side of the entrance and a wide stone surround frames the
entrance. The stone surround has eight stone corbels over the entryway to visually support a tall stone section of wall; it
has a large shell motif carved into it. Above the stone section of wall is a two-story window divided into forty panes of glass
by wood mullions. The window has stone trim and a tall stone block above it. The stone block has relief carvings in the
shape of an octagon with additional carvings inside the octagon that include a crown motif. North of the entrance are three
bays of windows divided by wide brick pilasters, the northernmost bay being the 1948 addition. Each bay has a grouping
of six 6/9 windows on the first and second levels.

North of the 1948 addition is the 1953 addition to the building which is symmetrically arranged the south end (at the north
end of the 1948 addition) and the north end have a wall that forms a corner bay, though the top of the wall is egual to the
adjacent walls. The corner bay has wide brick pilasters that step inward toward a center bay. The center bay has a 6/6
window centered in its first level and a 6/2 window centered in its second level. The windows have stone sills, but are not
framed with stone trim. At the center of the 1953 addition is a narrow wall that forms a projecting bay, though the top of
the bay wall is equal to the adjacent walls. A small, narrow 1/1 window is located in the first level of the bay; it has a wide

" stone sill. The stone sill course on the 1953 addition is located on the corner bay walls only. Between the corner bay and
the projecting bay are two groupings of four 6/12 windows on the first level. The groups are framed with stone tfim. The
second level has two groupings of four 6/9 windows; these groups are also framed with stone trim. See photo 0008 for the
north half of the 1953 addition’s east wall.

Brookfield Street (West) Fagade (photos 0003-0005)

The most prominent section of the west fagade is the west wall of the auditorium, which is part of the original building. The
south end of the west fagade is the west side of the west corner bay from the front fagade (seen at left in photo 0003).

The west wall of the corner bay has an entrance on its first level. The entrance has a pair of sieel doors. The corner bay
wall is detailed similarly to its front wall with brick pilasters on each side of the entrance. The pilasters step inward toward
a center bay in which the entry is located on the first level. The entry has a wide stone surround. The stone surround has
eight stone corbels over the entry way to visually support a tall stone section of wall. This stone section has a relief carving
of a figure holding two masks depicting comedy and tragedy. Above the stone section of wall is a tall window divided into
twenty-five panes of glass by wood mullions. The window has stone {rim and a tall stone block abave it. The stone block
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has a stone relief carved into the shape of an octagon with additional carvings inside the octagon that include a fleur de lis
mefif,

A short portion of the south wall of the auditorium is visible on the exterior of the building (seen at far left in photo 0003).
The wall has a large oculus window divided into nine panes of glass by wood mullions on its second level. The window
has a stone surround. The west wall of the auditorium has three bays divided by brick pilasters (seen in right half of photo
0005). Wide brick pilasters form the outside edges of the outside bays. The parapet of this center section with the three
bays of windows does not have stone belt courses continue from the parapets of the pilasters or the remainder of the
building. Each bay has a row of four windows on the first and second levels, and at a mid-level between the first and
second levels. A stone sill course forms the sills for the first level windows. The first level windows are wood with a single,
narrow piece of glass. The upper two rows of windows are covered with plywood. Narrow brick pilasters are located
between the windows; these pilasters and those separating the bays continue to the parapet. A pair of steel entry doors is
located in the center of the northernmost bay; the middle two windows step up over the top of the entry doors. The north
wall of the auditorium has no windows or doors (seen at left in photo 0005).

A portion of the remaining west fagade includes the west wall of the gymnasium which is tucked into the original building
and mostly covered. A row of tall 9/9 windows with a fransom divided into nine panes of glass is on the upper portion of
the west wall of the gymnasium. A massive and tall brick chimney is located near the north end of the gymnasium. North
of the chimney is a pair of 6/9 windows on the first level and three 6/9 windows grouped fogether on the second level. The
remainder of the west fagade steps back to the east. North of the gymnasium is a pair of steel doors accessed by
concrete steps. This leads to a stairwell. A pair of 6/9 windows is located at the mid-level of the stairwell, above the doors.
This stairwell is part of the original building. North of the stairwell is a group of six 6/8 windows on the first and second
levels of the 1948 addition to the building (right side of photo 0004).

North of the 1948 addition the west wall steps out where the 1953 addition joins the 1948 addition (left half of photo 0004).
The south end of the 1853 addition has two entrances near its center. The entrances once accessed the boys and girls
restrooms but have now been filled in with brick. The enfrances are divided by a brick wall on a concrete stoop; the stoop
is covered by a flat, metal roof. A window filled with glass blocks is located on each side of the restrcom entrances on the
first and second levels. A glass awning window is located near the center of the glass blocks. The windows have stone
sills. The remainder of the west wall of the 1953 addition is divided into four bays of windows on the first and second
levels. The bays have groups of four 6/9 windows set on stone sills. The bays are divided by sections of wall; the section
between the two middle bays is wider than the other wall sections. Basement windows are also located in the west wall of
the 1953 addition. The windows have stone sills set at ground level and are covered by protective glass and fencing. A
pair of windows is located below each group of windows on the first level.

North Fagade

The north fagade of the building is primarily the north wall of the 1953 addition (right side of photo 0008). The wall has an
entry centered on its first level. The entry is accessed by concrete steps and a stoop. The stoop has a brick wall on its
west side with a circular opening near its top. The stoop is covered by a flat, metal roof. An opening below the stoop, on
its west side, provides access fo a basement door. The first level entrance has a pair of steel doors. The only windows on
the north wall are a pair of windows divided into six panes of glass by wood mullions. A transom divided into two panes of
glass is located above each window. These are centered high on the second level and have a stone sill.

Marguette School, interior Photographs 0009-0020

General Description

The Marquette School's plan is generally described as a double-loaded corridor plan. The original building had a U-
shaped plan, but additions on the northeast comer of the building made the building’s plan L-shaped. This pattern is
repeated on the first and second floors, and on the west and north sides of the hallway in the basement. The remaining
area of the basement level is unexcavated. Entrances to primary rooms off the central hallways are recessed into the
haliway walls (photo 0015). The inside corner of the L has a two-story gymnasium (photo 0010) and the end of the short
leg of the L (west end) has a two-story auditorium (photo 0008). There are three stairways in the original 1936 building.
One stairway is opposite from the middle of the gymnasium'’s east wall {photos 0012-0013}, one stairway is located at the
north end of the original building’s north wall, north of the gymnasium, and one stairway is located on the east wall of the
auditorium. A fourth stairway is located at the northeast corner of the building’s long leg, at the north end of the 1953
addition.
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Boys and girls restrooms are located on the first and second floors between the gymnasium and auditorium, on the north
side of the central hallway. Boys and girls restrooms are also located at the south end of the 1953 addition to the building,
on the west side of the central hallway on the first and second floors (photo 0020). The secretary and principal’s offices
are located off the east vestibule, southwest of the central hallways’ intersection on the first floor. The library {photo 0019)
is located on the second floor of the east corner bay on the front of the building. The art room is located west of the library,
on the south side of the central hallway on the front of the building (photo 0016). A kitchen is located on the first fioor of
the front fagade’s west corner bay. The building’s utility area and boiler room are located below the gymnasium. The
remaining spaces are primarily classrooms, storage rooms, ar teachers’ work rooms.

Architectural Features and Finishes

The interior of Marquette School has a significant number of extant features and finishes characteristic of a school
constructed during the 1930s. The floors throughout the first floor and second floor hallways are covered with tiles in
shades of green, in some locations in a checkerboard pattern and laid diagonally with the walls (photo 0014). The floors of
the stairways and their landings have terrazzo in a mossy green and tan color {photos 0012-0013). The floors throughout
the rest of the building have a border and cove base composed of terrazzo in either a mossy green or tan color. Many of
the classroom floors are coverad with carpeting. The art room floor and the gymnasium floor are composed of maple
boards (photos 0002 and 0016).

The interior walls of the original building’s first floor have a wainscot compoesed of a sand-colored brick in most of the
classrooms, the hallways, and the gymnasium (photos 0010-0015, 0018). The wainscot is about five feet tall except in the
gymnasium and vestibules where it is approximately seven feet tall; the top course of the wainscot is composed of brick
rowiocks. The remaining walls, or portions of walls not covered with brick wainscot, are covered with plaster except in the
gymnasium where the interior walls above the wainscot are painted brick. Walls in the bathrooms of the 1953 addition are
composed of tan colored glazed ceramic tiles (photo 0020). Ceilings throughout the building have mostly been lowered
with a suspended ceiling grid that supports acoustic tiles. A few locaticns have plaster or drywall ceilings including the art
reom, teachers’ lounge, the gymnasium and portions of the hallways. The boiler room and basement have mostly formed
concrete walls.

The auditorium, which was added to the project during construction of the original building, has a ramp on the first floor
and a balcony for seating on its second floor at its south end. The north wall of the auditorium has a raised stage with a
slightly curved floor and steps on each side of the stage floor {photo 0008). The stage has heavy gold and blue draperies
and the walls on each side and above the stage opening angle inward fo the stage. The east and west walls of the

. auditorium have wide, fluted pilasters with stylized fluted capitals. The central hallways have built-in wood display cases
and display boards framed by brick rowlocks near the original building's vestibules. A large bronze building plaque is also
located in the hallway. The stairways have simple balustrades composed of flat thick metal bars and wood handrails
installed on a low wall covered with terrazzo (photos 0012-0013). One classroom has a thick terrazzo counter with a sink
supported by short seclions of brick walls. The art room has built-in wood cabinets, shelves, and drawers in its end wall
{photo 0016). The library also has built-in book shelves, recessed into the walls and framed with narrow cak trim (photo
0019). Long rows of metal lockers are also built into the hallway walls {(see photo 0014). Metal radiators for the building’s
hot water heat system are located throughout the building; in some locations decorative metal grilles cover the radiators
where they are recessed into the wall.

The classroom and office doors in the building are mostly cak with a window divided into twelve panes of glass by wood
mullions (photo 0015). Storage room, bathroom, and closet doors are also oak, but have no windows. The casings
around windows and doors are aliso composed of oak moldings. Doors have a piece of quarter round trim nearest the
jamb, followed by a flat oak board that creates the face of the casing, and a piece of cove molding that creates a perimeter
piece of trim around the flat board. Most windows have pale rose-colored granite sills and a flat piece of oak trim that
creates the cutside face of the casings.

The building is constructed with a blend of poured or formed concrete and a steel frame. The steel frame is evident from
an aerial phofograph taken of the building during construction, c. 1936. Poured and formed concrete walls and pan-
formed concrete floors are evident in the building’'s basement areas.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria Areas of Significance
{Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property

; . o (Enter categories from instructions.)
for National Register listing.)

ARCHITECTURE
A Property is associated with events that have made a
X significant contribution to the broad patterns of our EDUCATION
- history. POLITICS/GOVERNMENT

B Property is associated with the lives of persons
— significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, peried, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack 1936-1961
individual distinction.

Period of Significance

D D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information

important in prehistory or history. Significant Dates

Criteria Considerations
{Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Significant Person
Property is: (Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

A Owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

B removed from its original location. Cultural Affiliation

C a birthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or structure. Architect/Builder

Austin and Shambleau

F a commemorative property.

Hickey, Thomas L.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification)

The period of significance begins the year construction of the building began, in 1936, and ends in 1961, the mandatory
cut-off date for eligibility. 1961 was chosen as the end date due to the continued use of the building as a neighborhood
school until just recently.

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary)

Not Applicable
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and
applicable criteria.)

Marguette School is eligible for the National Register of Historic Places under Criteria A and C. Criterion A is met due fo
the building’s historic use by the community for education and due to its association with New Deal projects funded by the
United States Government. Criterion C is met due to the building's representation as a specific type, a neighborhood
school, and its architectural style, Art Deco. The building also meets the registration requirements set out in the multiple
properties documentation form for /indiana’s Public Common and High Schools.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)

EDUCATION

The area surrounding Marquette School began to grow during the early 1900s as South Bend continued to experience
growth in its population and economy. The neighborhood, located on South Bend's northwest side, was connected {o the
downtown by Portage Avenue, east of Marquette School. As the population in the area grew, so did the need to construct
a school building to provide for the education of children living in developing neighborhoods of the area.

In order to meet this demand the South Bend City Schools constructed a building termed as a “portable school” at the
south end of the block bordered by College Avenue on its east side, Hamilton Street on its south side, and Brookfield
Street on its west side. The building was a wood frame, single story building that fronted College Avenue and had two
wings that extended west from the back of the front portion of the building. Athletic fields were located west of the building,
between it and Brookfield Street. According to South Bend City Directories, the school was first started in 1926. A
newspaper account in 1935 stated that the building was “in a leaky condition” and had facilities for only a small percentage
of the 600 students located in the school’s district represented by the Marguette portable school.! The description of the
building at this time, and the term “portable” indicates that the building likely was never meant for long-term use by the city
schools.

South Bend Schools justifiably used the poor condition of the building and a need for larger accommaodations to advocate
for construction assistance for a new building through the Federal Public Works Administration in 1935. Construction of
the building began in June of 1936 immediately north of the portable school (within about forty feet). The new Marquette
School was planned as an elementary school to accommodate 40-50 years of growth in the district. The building fronted
Hamilton Street on its south side and once the portable building was razed it had a large front lawn suitable for a public
building of its scale in the Marquette Park neighborhood. While the new building was under construction, the South Bend
School Board voted to add a 700 seat auditorium to the building’s west side. This was a feature originally included in the
architect's plans, but was not approved in the original construction due fo finances. The auditorium included a stage,
balcony, dressing rooms, and the ability to show films. The building was approximately one-third complete af the time the
auditorium was approved.” The building had thirteen classrooms and also included a gymnasium. The total cost of the
building was $262,760. The Federal government’s share of the construction cost was 45 percent;, South Bend Schools
contributed the remaining amount without issuing bonds.

Marquette School was completed in January of 1937, and was placed in service at the opening of the second semester of
the 1936-1937 school year. The building was dedicated on April 22, 1937 with two programs. The evening program had
an attendance of seven hundred people. Rev. Charles Tupper Baillie, pastor of the First Presbyterian Church, provided a
dedication message entitled "What Price Peace?” Fourth and fifth grade students sang a group of songs at the dedication.
Mayor George Freyermuth made comments about the addition of the new building to the ¢ity's schools. Betty Blum, a
sixth grade student, offered appreciation on behalf of the pupils of Marquette School. Rabbi Albert Shulman, pastor of
Temple Beth-El, gave the invocation. An Amerlcan flag was presented to the school during the afternoon program; it was
followed by the singing of the National Anthem.®

1 South Bend Tribune, Octcber 15, 1935
2 South Bend Tribune, June 9, 1936
® South Bend Tribune, April 23, 1937
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Two additions to the building were necessary to accommodate growth in the district. The first addition was created in 1948
on the east end of the north side of the building. The addition included four classrooms {two on each ficor) with central
hallways that connected to the original building's hallways on each level. The second addition was constructed between
1952 and 1953 on the north side of the 1948 addition and continued the central hallways located on each floor. The 1953
addition included eight classrooms, boys and girls’ restrooms, another stairway at its north end, and one large classroom
in its basement. This addition was created to alleviate overcrowding at the school and was put into service in September,
1953 for the 1953-1954 school year. The addition cost $296,789 o construct.*

POLITICS/GOVERNMENT

The New Deal projects created under President Franklin D. Roosevelt provided much needed work and consequently,
wages, to the American worker to raise the nation out of its economic disparity brought on by the Stock Market Crash in
1929. Several agencies were developed to administer New Deal funds. The Public Works Administration (PWA), which
funded 45 percent of the Marquette School construction, was formed in the first 100 days of Roosevelt's administration.
The PWA was not a relief organization, but provided funds for construction, planning, materials, or labor. Secretary of the
Interior Harold Ickes headed the organization. School construction throughout the United States evolved as appropriate
and necessary public works projects that benefitted communities by providing new facilities and jobs for the unemployed
citizenry in the cities and towns the public buildings were located.

A newspaper article from 1934 reveals the vast situation of employment and wages as ihey relate fo one of Roosevelt’s
relief programs, the Civilian Works Administration, in Saint Joseph County, Indiana:

ORDER STOPS EMPLOYMENT, KAHLER SAYS
Thousands Wait on List As Officials Get Word.

Charles B. Kahler, St. Joseph county supervisor of civil work’s activities, was informed late Saturday that Indiana’s
quota of men to be employed on CWA projects has been exhausted and no additional jobs are available.

“That means that we've reached the peak of our load and we won't be taking any more men on the payroll, despite
the fact that we have several thousand unemployed registered with our bureau.” Mr. Kahler said.

Notification that no more men are to be put to work came from William H. Book, state unemployment relief director
and chairman of the Indiana civil works board.

Saturday's local payroll, including South Bend, Mishawaka and the townships, showed 4,742 men who are

receiving weekly wages amounting to nearly $75,000 from federal funds. ...... Mr. Book said approximately
104,000 persons have been given employment throughout Indiana under the CWA banner with a weekly payroll of
$4,500,000.

South Bend Tribune January 7, 1934

It is interesting to note the actual average weekly pay per employee was about $15.82 based on the wages quoted for St.
Joseph County,

The Works Progress Administration (WPA) was formed in 1935 to continue work funded through the Civilian Works
Administration. At the height of the New Deal programs there were 59 camps in Indiana with 12,800 enrollees.” The
average salary for an Indiana enrollee in 1939 was $1,651 a year In 1935 Indiana was second in the nation with the
number of enrollees in federal aid projects, below the New York City district and above Pennsyivama (a population three
times that of Indiana at that time). 81,616 Hoacsiers were employed with WPA jobs in 1935." The large force of Hoosiers
employed under the federal aid project proved particularly beneficial when flooding ravaged southemn Indiana in 1937, the

* South Bend Tribune, Bpril 5, 1953

s Argos Reflector, September 14, 1938
$ argos Reflector, June 15, 1939

7 Argos Reflector, Octcober 24, 1935
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army of men was dispatched for flood relief and rehabilitation work.? Under the WPA St. Joseph County reached a peak
number of 7,200 jobs during the summer of 1936.

Between the CWA, WPA and PWA several buildings and infrastructure improvements were made in St. Joseph County
with construction lasting into the 1940s. In South Bend John Adams High School at 808 S. Twyckenham (19840, extant)
and Marquette Schooi were the only two new school buildings funded with PWA dollars. [n the same year Marquette was
constructed additions to Jeffersen and John F. Nuner Schools were created; these projects also used PWA funds. Each
project totaled over $52,000 for construction.” Additions were also made to Benjamin Harrison and James Madison
Schools using WPA funds. Ten park or landscaping projects were also funded through the WPA in South Bend, these
included clubhouses, shelters, and the construction of the fion house at Potawatomi Zoo. ™

ARCHITECTURE

The design contract for Marquette School was awarded to the local South Bend architectural firm of E. R. Austin, N. R,
Shambleau, and G. T. Nethercutt. Their firm designed other large public buildings in the city including James Madison
Elementary and the Tower Building in downtown South Bend. A few styles were frequently chosen for large public school
buildings during the period in which Marquette School was constructed. Architects frequently turned o classical and
colonial interpretations for large-scale neighborhood schools. Ancther common applied style for schools of this era was
the Art Deco style, the dominant style selected for Marquette School. The building has some Art Moderne features, such
as its mostly flat wall surfaces and stone banding, while its windows are more inspired by the Revival styles popular during
the pericd the building was constructed.

The Art Deco style was part of the Modernistic movement in architecture that was popular from about 1920 into the 1940s.

The style rebuffed classical elements of architecture and focused on geometric shapes and forms to decorate building
surfaces. These surfaces were usually smooth and sometimes incorporated wide, sweeping curved walls or other cut-
away treatments to the corners of buildings. Herizontal banding was also used fo accentuate buildings designed in the
style. Ancther frequent trademark of the style was the inclusion of low-relief carvings of figures or objects created in a
stylized treatment rather than precise realism.

Marquette School is a unique blend of the Modernistic movement of architecture with some elements of Revival styles.
Medernistic influence on the building is evident in several details. Stone belt courses form bands at the top of the walls of
the building and its vestibules (photo 0001-0002). The banding creates the appearance of a wall that steps inward toward
the top like the construction of ancient ziggurats. This was most prominent in the top of the corner bays’ walls which have
- been reduced in height to the main building’s parapet line; however, it is still evident on the vestibules. Another
Modernistic feature is the method in which the comer bays are cut away and the treatment of the brick coursing in the cut
away area (see photo 0002). Bricks form sharp outside corners of vertical brick courses in the cut away corners. Several
low-relief stone carvings of figures and objects are found either incorporated into the surrounds of the vestibules’
entrances, or above prominent second story windows. The carvings located above the vestibule entrances are stylized
human figures engaged in learning (photos 0001-0002). The carving above the auditorium entrance in the west corner
bay's west wall is a stylized human figure holding masks depicting comedy and tragedy (left side of photo 0003). Other
carvings on the building include motifs related to Marquette’s French heritage such as the fleur de leis (photos 0003,
0007).

With respect to the Revival-styled influence, the building has the formality of the Collegiate Gothic style, particularly in the
front facade’'s symmetry of corner bays and vestibules with parapeted pediments. The influence is also evident in the
building’s arrangement of large groups of windows with stone surrounds and their regular placement on the facades. Art
glass windows with wide stone surrounds located in each vestibule are reminiscent of Gothic-inspired leaded glass
windows with tracery (see photo 0011). When the building was expanded in 1948 and 1853, the additions’ designs
continued the style of the original building’s architecture and included a narrow “beautiful princess” window on the
buiiding’s east wall. See photo 0008 for the north half of the 1953 addition.

8 Argos Reflector, February 3, 1937

? Scuth Bend Tribune, Juns 9, 1936
1% Greiff, Glory-June, The Wew Deal in St. Joseph County
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The most stylistically designed features inside the building are found in the school's stairways and its auditorium. The
stairways have simple metal balustrades with wood handrails, but have a Modernistic appearance in their curved terrazzo
wall bases and metal balustrades at locations where the stairs turn and arrive at landings or floor levels (photos 0012-
0013). The pattern in the grills covering the radiators in the vestibules also has a geometric, curved Art Deco design. The
auditorium has stylized, deeply fluted pilasters and capitals on its east and west walls that are indicative of the Art Deco
style. The pilasters (left side of photo 0009) separate groups of narrow windows, three rows high, on the auditorium’s west
wall.

Cther important extant features of the building include its original wood windows and interior doors, wood casings and
built-in cabinetry and casework (photos 0015, 0016, 0018, & 0019). The sand-cclored brick wainscot found throughout the
original building and the terrazzo and tiled floors are also important character-defining features of the building. The brick
wainscot has areas in the hallways were lockers and school display board and cabinets are recessed into the walls and
brick is used as trim to frame the openings. The terrazzo and tiled floors have some checkerboard patterning and border
designs (photos 0013 &0014).

Marquette School is an excellent example of a neighborhood public school building constructed during the Depression era.
It has a minimally altered exterior and retains all of its significant interior character-defining features. Its position in the
neighborhood with its wide, landscaped front lawn and its presence on College Avenue is important to the character of the
surrounding residential neighborhood.

Indiana’s Public Common and High Schools Multiple Properties Documentation Form

The building also meets the registration requirements set out in the multiple properties documentation form for Indiana’s
Public Common and High Schools. The building was constructed as part of the city of South Bend's schoo! system to
replace a temporary school in a growing residential area of the city. It is an excellent example of a two or more room
consolidated rural and urban school which is one of the asscciated property types under the multiple properties
documentation form. The criginal building is an example of a two-story U-shaped plan with a double-loaded corridor. The
eriginal building was constructed during the time period specified for its associated property type (c. 1870-1945). While
the additions were created within a decade of the end date for the associated property type’s eligibility, the additions were
created with the same massing and arrangement of classrooms with a double-lcaded corridor. The additions were created
on the back of the east leg of the U-shaped plan and therefore do not obscure the original building.

The eligibility requirements for the associated property type include integrity of the building’s design and interior spaces. A
higher level of integrity is required for buildings of more recent vintage (1930-1945). Marquette School’s design, which
includes its massing, form, and pattern of window openings, has not been altered. The school has its historic windows and
exterior trim and details. The interior also reads as a historic school. The classrooms, offices, and common spaces
including the hallways, gymnasium, auditorium, and library have not been altered with new wall construction and certain
features including chalkboards and casework are extant.

Developmental history/additional historic context information (if appropriate)

During the first year of the new school, Marquette and Kaley Schools of South Bend shared a principal’s position. The
principal was Miss Edythe Brown. South Bend School Superintendent Frank Allen appointed Miss Margaret Alexander to
the position of Marquette’s first principal in April, 1937 for the following 1937-1938 school year. Alexander had been an
instructor at the Marquette School and with the South Bend Schools for over fourteen years when she was appointed
principal."’ Alexander had a master’s degree from the University of lowa and a Bachelor of Arts degree from Notre Dame.
She served as principal of Marquette School until her retirement in 1961, At the time of her retirement she had spent
thirty-nine of her forty-four years of teaching and administration in South Bend Schools.”

A short time after the new school had opened the United States was engaged in World War ll. In the large built-in display
case in the main corridor of the building photographs of Marquette School's alumni serving in the war were displayed with
small flags from the countries in which they were stationed. Seventy-five names of servicemen were listed and thirty-five

1 South Bend Tribune, Epril 14, 1937
12 sputh Bend Tribune, April 19, 1961
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portraits were displayed in the case in 1943. A school faculty member, Miss Julia Moss, assembled the display. " The
following year pupils of Marquette Schoo! conducted a school pageant that featured folk music, costumes, and customs
from around the world that included Norwegian skits and a Chinese wedding.'* The 10™ anniversary of the school was
marked with a program in 1947. The Parent-Teacher Association coordinated the anniversary program that included
speeches by those who had participated in the dedication of the building in 1937. A former student, Fred Helman, and a
student enrolled in 1947, Ival Newhard, represented alumni and students of Marquette at the program.’® During the fall of
1948 a letter from a needy Kentucky family reached the school; it stated that if the children would send their outgrown
clothes to the family, they would send Christmas greens in time to decorate for the holiday. The 5™ Grade students sent
four large boxes of clothes to the family and they sent two large boxes filled with holly, mistietoe, and evergreen boughs to
the school. Included in the box were letters of appreciation from the children of the Kentucky family the students had
assisted and befriended.™

The new Marquette School also spurred home construction in the surrounding neighborhood. An aerial photograph from
1936 shows only three homes fronting the streets that surround the school. A photograph that shows the construction of
the addition to the building in 1953 also shows the infill of housing in the surrounding neighborhood. The neighborhood
school and its athletic fields provided a sense of community and belonging for the children of the area, and a place of
recreation for the neighborhood. Verna Kurz, who was employed at Marquette and whose children attended the school,
moved to the Marquette neighborhood in 1955. At that time she and her husband had two smaill children and were
expecting their third child. She recalled that Marquette School was the center of activity in their neighborhood and that all
the children walked to school.

Kurz also remembered that her children played in the “wonderful big schoolyard” at Marquette. She recalled that the
kindergarten classroom had a life-size house with chairs, tables, and other furniture where the children were taught a basic
structure of sociability that included how to take turns and how to get along with each other. The Parent-Teacher
Association held an annual bazaar where mothers would bring different items to sell including baked goods and knitted
items. During that event classrooms were decorated according to the games that were hosted in the room. Fathers
helped by operating the “fish ponds” or cakewalk. There was also an annual science fair. Kurz recalled the singing of the
National Anthem at home basketball games heid in the gym and a Christmas Sing held around a decorated Christmas tree
in the bundlng each year. Kurz worked in the food service department and as a teachers’ aide in the building during the
1950s-1970s."’

By 1963 the enroliment of Marquette Elementary School reached 823 students with twenty-nine classrooms in use.
Enrollment started to decline at the building and by 1996 there were only 353 students enrolled. That number continued fo
decline and in 2007 enroliment had fallen to 319 students. A decision was made by South Bend City Schools to replace
Marquette School with a new elementary school at the north end of the block the Marquette School occupies. That
building was constructed between 2009-2010; it was put into service in 2010. The old Marquette School is currently
vacant, but is in excelient condition.

¥ south Bend Tribune, November, 9, 1943
1 south Bend Tribune, May 12, 1944
¥ Sputh Bend Tribune, January 16, 1947
16 South Bend Tribune, December 21, 1948
Y Kurz, Verna, letter in suppert of keeping Margquette School, 2010
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(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 16 560135 4616928 3
Zone Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing
2 4
Zone Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property. )

Beginning at the narthwest corner of the intersection of College Avenue and Hamilton Streets, continue in a line north with
the west curb of College Avenue to the north side of the sidewalk on the north side of Marquette School. Turn west and
follow a line west with the north side of the sidewalk; continue this line west to the east curb of Brookfield Street. Turn
south and follow a line south with the east curb of Brookfield Street fo its intersection with Hamilton Street. Turn east and
continue in a line east with the north curb of Hamilton Street to the west curb of College Avenue, or the point of beginning.

Boundary Justification {Explain why the boundaries were selected. )

The boundaries described above incorporate the contributing resources of Marquette School, including the additions to the
building, landscaping, and flagpole in the front lawn.

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitte Kurt West Garner

organization Partners in Preservation, Inc. date August 30, 2011

street & number 12954 6" Road telephone 574-936-0613

city ortown Plymouth state IN zip code 46563
e-mail kwgarner@kwgarner.com

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

» Maps: A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all
phatographs to this map.

« Continuation Sheets

« Additional items: (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)

Fhotographs:
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Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi {pixels per inch)
or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map.

Interior photographs were faken in 2007 during a tour of the building by the local historical preservation
commission. With the exception that the school building has been vacated and is used for storage, no changes
have occurred in the building and the photographs represent the current condition of the interior of the building.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State: IN
Photographer: Kurt West Garner

Date Photographed:  August 22, 2011

Description of Photograph(‘s) and number: 0001 Hamilton Street facade, looking northwest
1 of 20. |
Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State: IN

Photographer: Kurt West Garner

Date Photographed: August 22, 2011

Description of Photograph({s) and number: 0002 Hamilton Street fagade’s west vestibule, looking northwest |
2 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend
County: St. Joseph State: [N ‘
Photographer: Kurt West Garner ;

Date Photographed: August 22, 2011

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0003 Hamilton Street fagade, looking northeast
3of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend
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Name of Property
County: 5t Joseph
Photographer: Kurt West Garner
Date Photegraphed: August 22, 2011

Description of Photograph(s) and number:

4 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School
City or Vicinity: South Bend
County: St. Joseph
Photographer: Kurt West Garner

Date Photographed: August 22, 2011
Description of Photograph(s} and number:

b of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend
County: St. Joseph
Photographer: Kurt West Garner

Date Photographed: August 22, 2011

Description of Photograph(s) and number:

6 of 20.

Name of Property: Marguette School
City or Vicinity: Scuth Bend
County: St Joseph
Photographer: Kurt West Garner

Date Photographed: August 22, 2011
. Description of Photograph(s) and number:

7 of 20.

Name of Property: Marguette School

OMB No. 1024-0018

State:

0004

State:

0005

State:

0006

State:

0007

(Expires 5/31/2012)
St Joseph County, IN
County and State

West fagcade, looking northeast at 1948 & 1853 additions

Auditorium’s west and nerth facades, looking southeast

College Avenue facade, looking north from front facade

College Avenue entrance, looking west
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Name of Property
City or Vicinity:
County:

Photographer:

Date Phofographed:

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0008
8 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State:
Photographer: Timothy Scott Kiusczinski
Date Photographed: March 5, 2007

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0009
9 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St Joseph State:
Photographer: Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed:

Description of Photograph{s) and number: 0010
10 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State:
Photographer: Tirnothy Scott Kiusczinski

Date Photographed:

South Bend

St. Joseph State:

Kurt West Garner

August 22, 2011

March 5, 2007

March 5, 2007

Description of Photograph(s} and number: 0011

11 of 20.

(Expires 5/31/2012)

5t. Joseph County, IN

County and State

1953 Addition’s east and north walls, looking southwest

Auditorium, looking northwest at stage

Gymnasium, looking northwest

East front vestibule, locking west at art glass window
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Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State: N

Photographer: Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March &, 2007

Description of Photograph(s} and number: 0012 College Avenue entrance/stairway, looking east
12 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St Joseph State: IN

Phctographer: Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March §, 2007

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0013 College Ave. stairway, looking east at landing from second level ‘
13 of 20. ‘
Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St Joseph State: IN

Photographer: Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March 5, 2007

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0014 Looking north to north end of central haltway, first floor
14 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State: IN

Photographer: Timothy Scott Kiusczinski

Date Photographed: March 5, 2007
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Description of Photograph(s) and number; 0015 Typical classroom recessed entry, looking east

15 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State: IN

Photographer: Timothy Scoft Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March 5, 2007

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0016 Art Room, looking east

16 of 20. |
Name of Property: Marquette School |
City or Vicinity: South Bend !
County: St Joseph State: N |
Photographer: Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March 5, 2007

Description of Photograph(s} and number; 0017  Typical classroom, looking west |
17 of 20. ‘

i
Name of Property: Marquette School %
City or Vicinity: South Bend i
County: St. Joseph State: IN ‘
Photographer; Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March 5, 2007

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0018 Typical classroom, looking east
18 of 20.

Name of Property: Marguette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: St. Joseph State: IN
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Photographer: Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March 5, 2007

Description of Photograph(s) and number: 0019  Library, looking south
19 of 20.

Name of Property: Marquette School

City or Vicinity: South Bend

County: _ St. Joseph State: IN

Photographer: Timothy Scott Klusczinski

Date Photographed: March 5, 2007

BPescription of Photograph(s) and number: 0020 Second floor boys’ bathroom, 1953 addition, locking west
20 of 20.

Property Owner:

(Complete this itemn at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name Dr. Carole Schmidt, South Bend Community School Corporation

street & number 215 South Si. Joseph Street telephone 574-283-8000

city or town South Bend state IN zip code 46601

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.$.C.460 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18 hours per respense including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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